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A Brief Introduction to Hiji Town

Hiji is a 400-year old castle town, a town which developed around its castle, and is located on Beppu Bay.
We have many historical places and beautiful spots. The town is conveniently located near Oita’ s major
cities and the airport. Oita City, the capital of Oita Prefecture, is about 40 minutes’ drive, and Beppu City

is about 20 minutes. Also, Oita Airport is about 30 minutes’ drive from here.

There are many fresh water springs in Hiji, and the town water supply comes from spring water. Even in
the sea near the castle site, there are fresh water springs. The fresh water springs in the sea make the
flounder living there very tasty. Flounder which are caught in the Hiji sea are very famous and are called
“shiroshita karei.” It literally means “below-the-castle flounder.” There are several Japanese restaurants

which serve “shiroshita karei.”

Hiji was one of the few Japanese place names written on a Japanese map issued in Europe in the 16th
century. This shows that Hiji was once a major seaport. A Catholic missionary named Francisco Xavier,
one of the first missionaries who preached Christianity in Japan, came to Oita in 1551. First he came to

Hiji and took a ship from Hiji Port to the city of Oita.
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Hiji-machi and Castle town
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Ruins of Hiji Castle
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Hiji Castle was originally constructed about 400 years ago. This stone gate used to be the main gate of the
castle. It is now the gate of Hiji Elementary School

Hiji was a very small domain, so its castle was also small. But it was a good castle and had most of the
elements of a typical Japanese castle. Castles in general were originally built as fortresses, so, they have
stone walls and moats around them for protection. Some of Hiji Castle’ s moats and stone walls still
remain.

This castle consisted of three quarters; the main compound,
the second compound, and the third compound. In the main
compound, there was a main castle tower, several other
towers, and a palace. Unfortunately, none of the original
towers remain on the castle site.

When Japan went through drastic political and social changes
called the “Meiji Restoration” in the 1860s and 1870s, most of
the castle buildings were demolished. Hiji Elementary School
now stands on the site of the main compound of the castle,
and Hiji Senior High School is located on the site of the

secondary compound.

1% (3-4H)
cherry blossom (March and April)
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Monument of Narikiyo Nobue
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This monument was constructed by a group of volunteers to honor an entrepreneur from
Hiji, Narikiyo Nobue. He contributed greatly to the development of Hiji Town and Oita Prefecture
in the first half of the 20th century.

Narikiyo Nobue succeeded his father as a gold mine owner in 1916. Besides running the gold
mining company, he was involved in setting up banks and public transportation companies in Oita
Prefecture. He also built a girls” school in Hiji.

The title of the monument was written by former Foreign Minister Shigemitsu Mamoru from Oita
Prefecture. The drawing on the monument shows scenes of gold mine work, such as digging, sorting
ore, and carrying them.
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Taki Rentaro
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This is the statue of Taki Rentaro. He is one of Japan’ s most famous composers. His major works
include “Kojo no tsuki” (The Moon over the Castle Ruins), “Hana” (Flowers), and “Hakone
Hachiri”, which were originally written for junior high school students in 1901.

He was the eldest son of Taki Yoshihiro, who was a high ranking official of the newly established
Meiji Government. Taki’ s family used to serve the feudal lord of Kinoshita in Hiji-machi as senior
retainers for generations.

Rentaro lived in different places in Japan, including Taketa in Oita Prefecture, owing to his father’s
job. He entered Tokyo Music School in 1894 at the age of 15. In 1901, he entered the Leipzig
Conservatory, Germany, to pursue his music studies. However, he fell seriously ill with tuberculosis
only two months after he entered the school. So, he had to come back to Japan. He lived in Oita City
until he died at the age of 23.

His statues are located in Hiji, Taketa, and Oita.
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Hoashi Banri
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This statue is Hoashi Banri. He was a politician and scholar in the early 19th century in Hiji. He is one of
the most respected historical figures in this town.

He studied various subjects, such as Japanese and Chinese classics, natural sciences, military strategy, and
Dutch. He wrote a few books, including eight volumes on natural science based on what he learned from

Dutch books.

When he was the chief retainer of the Hiji clan, he carried out a drastic economic reform. He had his
private schools, where he taught more than 1000 students in about 50 years. Chidokan, former Hiji
Domain school for samurai elites, was established by some of his students.

4

g b AR

D

Kimon-Yagura
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This building is called Kimon-yagura. It means “unlucky corner tower.” This tower was ori%inally located in the
northeastern corner of the castle. In Japan, the northeastern direction was thought to be an unlucky direction, so, in
order to stop bad luck from coming into the castle, this tower was built there.

This old building was almost ruined, but it was disassembled and rebuilt at the present site. This renovation took about three
years and was completed in 2013. It was rebuilt using as much of the original lumber as possible and following traditional
Japanese construction methods. The walls are made of a mixture of mud and rice straw, and the floor is hard-packed dirt.

During the reconstruction, parts of the renovation processes were open to the public, so that people could see how
castle towers were built with traditional methods. Also, Hiji Town invited volunteers to particil}:ate in making
part of the walls and the floor, so that they could experience traditional Japanese wall and floor making.
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Kinoshita’ s Family Crest
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The pattern on the end of each roof tile is one of the family crest of the Kinoshita Clan. The pattern
represents a plant called “omodaka”, or three leaf arrowhead in English. The “omodaka” crest was
used by many samurai families. Its leaf head looks like an arrowhead, so it was regarded as a symbol
of winning wars. The Kinoshita Clan had five more crests. Having more than one family crests was
common among noble Japanese families.

Family crests have been used in Japan for more than a thousand years, originally only by noble
families for identification. Now, almost every family has a crest, and they are used on special
ceremonial occasions. People kept creating their own designs, so there are more than 5,000 motifs
of flowers, plants, animals, tools, and abstract symbols.
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sasanqua camellia (November and December)
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Chidokan
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These old wooden structures were the main building of Hiji’s “han” school and its gate. They were
built in the middle of the 19th century (1858), about 160 years ago. A “han” school was a school
which was built by the domain government to educate children of the samurai elite durmg the Edo
Period (1600-1868). By the 1860s there were 255 “han” schools in Japan. This “han” school was

called Chido-kan, and it means “school for attaining the way.’

Chido-kan accepted not only children of the samurai class but of other social classes. Its students
included children of medical doctors and village headmen, and those who wanted to be Buddhist
priests or Shinto priests.

Chido-kan is the only “han” school building in Oita Prefecture which still remains. It was renovated

in 2015.
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Hitobashira Hokora
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This small stone structure is a shrine called “Hitobashira Hokora.” Hitobashira Hokora literally means
(13 . 0 ”»
human sacrifice shrine”.

In 1960, a wooden barrel-like coffin was unearthed on this site. It contained human bones. It was presumed
that the man in the coffin was a human sacrifice who was buried as an offering in the southwest corner of the
castle’s main compound when the castle was built.

The directions of southwest and northeast were regarded as bad luck directions in the traditional Japanese
feng shui. In order to prevent bad luck from entering through bad luck directions, various measures were
taken in town planning and castle building. Offering a human sacrifice was one of the measures. However,
often symbols of people were offered. It was extremely unusual that a man was actually offered. In memory of
the poor man, this shrine was constructed.
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Yokoku Inari Shrine
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This is a shrine of the “Inari” faith. Inari is one of the major gods of }
Shinto, Japan’s indigenous religion. In Shinto, Inari is believed to be a
god of agriculture, industries and warriors. Inari shrines usually have red “torii” gates and white fox
images. Foxes are believed to be messengers of Inari gods.

This shrine was built by the second lord of Hiji, Kinoshita Toshiharu, in the middle of the 17th
century. Traditions of the Yokoku Inari Shrine say that a fox which lived in a cave in Hiji Castle
saved the Kinoshita clan from a family crisis.
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Monument of Tanka by
Tabuki Shigeko
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On this stone monument, a Tanka composed by Tabuki Shigeko is inscribed. Tanka is one
traditional style of Japanese poetry. It consists of five lines of 5, 7, 5, 7, and 7 syllables,
respectively. Its English translation reads, “The town where hot spring steam rises is seen so
close by, and the sea under the castle is so clear and blue.”

Tabuki Shigeko was a 20th century Tanka poet from Oita Prefecture. She taught Tanka
composition in Hiji for several years beginning in 1974. This monument was built by her former
students in 1981.

2bk s (11:-12H)
leopard plant (November and December)
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Monument of Aircraft Carrier Kaiyo
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This is a monument to the Kaiyo, a Japanese aircraft carrier. This monument was erected by her
former crew in 1982 in commemoration of their fellow crew members who were killed during World
War II and as a prayer for the everlasting peace. Kaiyo means “sea hawk.”

Originally she was built as an ocean liner between Japan and South America. But after World War II
broke out, she was changed into an escort carrier. The ship was used as an aircraft transport, escort
carrier, and training ship.

While Kaiyo was moored off Hiji, because it was seriously damaged by air strikes and hitting mines,
she was hit by an American air raid on July 28, 1945. During this attack, 6 members out of her 580
person crew were killed.

KAl (1-2-3H)

narcissus (January — March)
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Stone Monuments of Haiku by
Takahama Kyoshi and Takagi Haruko
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Here, we can see two stone monuments. On each of them, a haiku poem is written. Haiku is a
traditional Japanese short poem. It is made of 3 lines with the lines having 5, 7, 5 syllables and
usually has a theme about nature.

The haiku on the right stone was written by a famous haiku poet from early 20th century Japan,
Takahama Kyoshi. This poem means “In the sea, fresh water gushes out, which nurtures fish.” He
wrote this poem in 1920, when he was invited to Hiji by a group of amateur haiku poets. This
monument was built in 1952.

On the other monument, a haiku by Kyoshi’s daughter is written. Her name is Takagi Haruko.
She came to Hiji in 1979, during her tour visiting Kyoshi’s
haiku monuments in Japan. Her poem means “Early autumnal
leaves, floating on the sea, as if to scoop fresh water.” This
monument was built in 1982.

Making poem monuments has been a popular practice for
centuries in Japan.
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Castle Stone Walls
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These stone walls are original and about 400 years old. They were constructed using natural stones
without any adhesive, such as mortar.

Large stones of different sizes were fitted together, and small cobblestones were filled in behind them. In
this way, strong stone walls were built, which could withstand even sever earthquakes.

It is said that this method to make stone walls was developed by a group of stonemasons called
“Ano-shu” in the 16th century. Many Japanese castle walls were made by “Ano-shu” stonemasons in the
early 17th century.

Hiji Castle stone walls were also made by “Ano-shu” stonemasons between 1601 and 1602.

®

N B e A o

Monument in Memory of Mr. Koda Saburo
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This stone monument was erected in memory of a teacher named Koda Saburo in 1974. The Japanese
words on the monument say, “In memory of Mr. Koda Saburo.”

Mr. Koda was killed in an air raid during World War II after saving his students’ lives. So, his former
students had this monument built in his honor.

Toward the end of World War II, there were several air raids by American warplanes in this region. Durmg the war,
Japan had a severe shortage of’ food so people used even school grounds as vegetable farms. On ﬂgie morning of July 28,
1945, Mr. Koda and his schoolchildren were working on the Hiji Elementary School farm. There was anot ier air raid.
Mr. Koda led the children to the nearby air raid s%nelter. After he made sure that all his students were safe in the
shelter, he started to enter. He was shot in the stomach and died soon after that. He was 37 years old.
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300 Year Old Bell
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This bronze bell is more than 300 years old. What do you think this bell was originally made for? It was to
tell the time. So, this bell used to serve as a clock. It was said that gold was added in casting the bell in
order to make the sound better.

During World War II, the government required that all metal products be given to the government. So,
many metal products, including bells, were collected from around the country. But, fortunately this bell

survived.

Now, at 8 o clock every morning, the children of Hiji Elementary School take turns in striking this bell.
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Nitobe Inazo
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Beppu once was dubbed “the Naples of the East.” The person who first used this comparison was Nitobe
Inazo, the author of “Bushido.” He stayed in Beppu for about two months around 1931. During his
stay in Beppu, he visited Hiji and had a shiroshita-karei dinner at a restaurant located near the castle
site. He admired the views of Beppu Bay from the castle site and said that the views were just like
Naples and dubbed Beppu “the Naples of the East.”

Why was he visiting BepFu? Because he wanted to get away from the Japanese military authorities. He
had provoked their hostility by criticizing Japan’ s increasing militarism.
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Shiroshita-karei
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Shiroshita-karei, which literally means “below-the-castle flounder”, is a local name given to marbled
flounder which live in the sea under the Hiji Castle site. In the sea near the castle, there are fresh
water springs, and around them both sea water and fresh water plankton live. The flounder which live
onhthose plankton have a light and delicate taste and do not have a muddy odor, unlike flounder in
other areas.

Shiroshita-karei has been regarded as a local delicacy for hundreds of years. During the Edo l}()eriod, it
was even dedicated to the Shogun as a tribute. The fish was carried to Edo, present day Tokyo, on a
ship which was equipped with a fish preserve.

Now every May, the shiroshita-karei Festival is held in Hiji.
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Tekizan-so
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Tekizan-so, a well-known Japanese restaurant in Hiji, was originally built by a gold mine owner,
Narikiyo Hiroe, as his family residence in 1915. This simple but luxurious traditional Japanese-style
house, now owned by the town of Hiji, is designated as an important cultural asset by the national
government.

The site of Tekizan-so used to be part of Hiji Castle. Narikiyo Hiroe, who made a fortune by
successfully developing a gold mine, which was located in a town called Yamaga, a neighboring town
of Hiji, purchased an extensive area east of the main castle ground for his residence as well as for his
company employees’ houses.

In fact, “Tekizan” literally means “to discover a mine” and “so” means a villa. Tekizan-so has a good
view of Beppu Bay. In its garden design, Beppu Bay and Mt. Takasaki are used as “borrowed scenery.”

Along the paved road from the main gate to the entrance of this restaurant, there are trees which were
planted by imperial family members, including the current Emperor and Empress, for it used to be
visited by them.
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Plaster Art “Kote-e”
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These reliefs on the wall are art works called “kote-e” in Japanese. Kote-e is Japan’ s traditional plaster
art. It literally means “trowel painting”. Kote-e is made on a wall by plasterers using trowels. About
3,000 pieces of Kote-e are found in Japan. Of those, about 1,000 are in Oita Prefecture. In Hiji, there
are 30 pieces.

Plaster reliefs were made popular by a plasterer named Irie Chohachi from Shizuoka Prefecture in the
early 19th century. Kote-e was introduced into Hiji by a local plasterer named Aoyagi Koiichi. He

learned plaster art from Irie Chohachi, and spread the skill to other plasterers in Oita Prefecture.

Kote-e works were often made on a gable or a shutter box. Its motifs were usually good-luck symbols,
such as cranes, tortoises, gods of good fortune, rabbits, carp, and dragons.
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